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I. INTRODUCTION

In Turner v. State, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 62 (Oct. 1, 2020),' the Nevada

Supreme Court held that “to clearly preserve a Bruton challenge for
appellate review [after initially agreeing to redactions], a defendant must
formally object, on the record, after the parties have agreed upon redactions
and prior to the district court’s admission of a codefendant’s statement.”
Opinion at 11 (emphasis added). Applying the new rule to the facts of this
case, this Court concluded that Steven Turner “waived” all Bruton-related
arguments on appeal because,
[a]lthough Turner moved to sever trial and raised the Bruton
argument below, Turner did not clarify, on the record, that he
wished to preserve that argument for appeal after satisfactory
redactions had been made by the parties. To the contrary, after
Turner and the State agreed upon redactions, defense counsel
acknowledged that Turner had no further challenge to the
redacted statements, and nothing in the record shows that
Turner renewed his objection before the admission of Hudson’s
Statements.
Opinion at 12 (emphasis added).
Yet, by focusing on the admissibility of the redacted statements (and
whether Turner “waived” any objection to the redactions prior to their

admission into evidence), this Court overlooked a material question of law:

Did the State’s closing arguments, instructing the jury to use Hudson’s

! Opinion attached as Exhibit 1.



redacted statements as evidence against Turner, violate Turner’s Sixth
Amendment rights under Bruton and its progeny?

This Court overlooked controlling legal authority that a Bruton error
can occur because of the State’s use of evidence, long after its admission.
This Court misapprehended the laws of “waiver” and “forfeiture” by using
those terms interchangeably throughout the Opinion, contrary to both
Nevada and United States Supreme Court precedent. And, by focusing
solely on Turner’s actions during the time-period up to and including the
admission of the redacted statements, this Court overlooked the district
court’s “continuing duty” to sever a joint trial whenever prejudice becomes
apparent, as it did during the State’s closing arguments.

As set forth herein, Jeremias v. State, 134 Nev. 46 (2018), directly

controls this Court’s analysis of the Bruton error that occurred during the
State’s closing argument. This Court should rehear and reconsider the
published decision issued on October 1, 2020 and find that this Bruton error
was a plain error that violated Turner’s substantial rights and requires
reversal of his attempt murder convictions.

In addition to the Bruton issue, this Court overlooked or
misapprehended key facts to conclude that the State’s “trial by ambush”

(e.g., its failure to notice any stippling expert prior to trial), was harmless.



Finally, to the extent this Court finds that the Bruton error was
forfeited (as opposed to waived) or that the State’s “trial by ambush” was
not harmless, this Court should also re-consider whether cumulative error

warrants reversal.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. STANDARDS FOR REHEARING.
NRAP 40(c)(2) permits this Court to rehear and reconsider a panel
decision under the following circumstances:
(A) When the court has overlooked or misapprehended
a material fact in the record or a material question of law in the
case, or
(B) When the court has overlooked, misapplied or
failed to consider a statute, procedural rule, regulation or
decision directly controlling a dispositive issue in the case.
In the instant case, rehearing is necessary to allow the Court to consider
numerous factual and legal points that have been overlooked or
misapprehended.
B. THIS COURT SHOULD REHEAR THE BRUTON ISSUE.
1. Turner’s briefing clearly raised the issue of the Bruton
error during closing argument, but this Court overlooked
that material issue of law.
Throughout Turner’s briefing in this case, he has consistently argued

that a Bruton violation occurred during the State’s closing arguments when

the State relied on Clemon Hudson’s redacted statement to prove the



essential elements of the attempt murder charges, and improperly asked the
jury to consider Hudson’s statements as evidence against Turner. This
argument was articulated repeatedly in Appellant’s Opening Brief (AOB):

e See AOB at 14 (“Turner’s confrontation clause rights were
violated when he was forced to go to trial with a co-defendant who
made inculpatory statements to police that were not subject to
cross-examination and where the State relied on that evidence to
secure his conviction.”’) (emphasis added).

e See AOB at 21-22 (“In its closing argument, the State asked the
jury to consider the co-defendants’ inculpatory statements against
one-another by highlighting the fact that there were only ‘two
people’ involved in the crime” and specifically identifying the
improper closing arguments) (emphasis added).

e See AOB at 22 (pointing out that “the court’s redactions could not
cure the prejudice to him where the State argued that only ‘two
people’ were involved in the crime, which meant that each
defendant’s confession necessarily implicated his co-defendant (as
opposed to some other person.”’) (emphasis added).

e See AOB at 26 (citing Ducksworth v. State and Richardson v.
Marsh for proposition that “even if a redacted statement is
admissible, the State cannot actually use that statement to convict a
co-defendant at trial.”) (emphasis in original).

e See AOB at 27 (arguing that Turner is entitled to a new trial
“because Hudson’s inculpatory statements to police were relied on
by the State and the jury to convict him of two counts of attempt
murder with use of a deadly weapon.”) (emphasis added).

e See AOB at 28 (identifying the Bruton error that occurred
“[blecause the State argued that there were only two individuals
involved in the case”) (emphasis added).



o See AOB at 29-30 (outlining the State’s improper closing
arguments and explaining that “where the State actually used
Hudson’s statements against Turner at trial, it is unlikely that the
jury ‘disregard[ed] the statement[s] in assessing the defendant’s
guilt”) (emphasis added).

Turner repeated this very same argument in his Reply Brief,
explaining that his objection to the Bruton error was preserved by the filing
of a post-trial motion that addressed the Bruton errors that occurred during
the State’s closing arguments:

e See Reply at 7-8 (“Turner’s motion for a new trial challenged
the way the redactions were ‘used at trial’ to establish that there
were only two people present, such that Hudson’s statements
necessarily referred to him . . . By challenging how the redacted
evidence was actually used, Turner preserved his objection that
the State violated Bruton” and citing Richardson v. Marsh
which prohibits improper closing arguments) (emphasis in
original).

e See Reply at 18 (“any confusion about the identity of Hudson’s
‘unnamed’ co-conspirator would have been cleared up by the
State’s improper closing argument, when the State told the jury
that there were only two people involved in the shooting and
that Hudson told police, ‘the other guy, who I submit to you is
Turner, shot before him.” (X:2095). Where the State actually
used Hudson’s statements against Turner at trial, it is unlikely
that the jury ‘disregard[ed] the statement[s] in assessing the
defendant’s guilt. The Bruton error in this case is clear and
unmistakable.”) (emphasis in original).

Finally, Turner’s Petition for Rehearing made it clear that he was
asking this Court to address the Bruton error that occurred during the State’s

closing arguments:



e See Petition for Review at 4 (“this case involves a much more
serious type of Bruton violation, and one that the Nevada Supreme
Court has not had occasion to address in a published decision: the
impact of a closing argument by the State that specifically asks the
jury to consider a co-defendant’s redacted statement as evidence

that the defendant committed the charged crimes.”) (emphasis
added).

Despite Turner’s repeated assertions that the most significant Bruton
error in this case occurred during the State’s closing arguments, this Court’s
Opinion failed to address this material question of law or even acknowledge
the clear Sixth Amendment violation that occurred during that point in the
trial. Rehearing is necessary to allow this Court to consider this incredibly
important issue, which is a matter of first impression for the Nevada
Supreme Court.

2. This Court conflated the terms “waiver” and “forfeiture”
and misapprehended that Turner could anticipatorily
“waive” a Bruton error that occurred during the State’s
closing arguments by agreeing to redactions.

As Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg explained in one of her last
unanimous opinions for the Supreme Court, “The terms waiver and

forfeiture — though often used interchangeably by jurists and litigants — are

not synonymous.” Hamer v. Neighborhood Housing Servs. of Chicago, 138

S.Ct. 13, 17 n.1 (2017). “Whereas forfeiture is the failure to make the timely
assertion of a right, waiver is the ‘intentional relinquishment or

abandonment of a known right.”” United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 733




(1993) (quoting Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464 (1938)). Furthermore,

“Iw]hether a particular right is waivable; whether the defendant must
participate personally in the waiver; whether certain procedures are required
for waiver; and whether the defendant’s choice must be particularly
informed or voluntary, all depend on the right at stake.” Id. (citing 2 W.
LaFave & J. Israel, Criminal Procedure § 11.6 (1984)).

Courts apply a high standard to determine whether a defendant has
“waived” a constitutional right. Waivers of “constitutional rights not only
must be voluntary but must be knowing, intelligent acts done with sufficient
awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences.” Brady v.

United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970).

In this case, Turner could not possibly have known, when his attorney
agreed to the redactions in question, that the State would later violate Bruton

v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), and Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S.

200 (1987), by asking the jury to use Hudson’s statements as evidence of his
guilt in its closing arguments. And this Court overlooked a material fact in
the record that undercuts its finding of “waiver”: the State’s promise that it
would not use the statements improperly at trial.

In Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. at 128-29, the Supreme Court

held that the State could not use a nontestifying co-defendant’s confession



against another defendant at trial without violating the Sixth Amendment’s

Confrontation Clause. Then, in Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. at 211, the

Supreme Court clarified that the Confrontation Clause would not be violated
by the admission of a nontestifying codefendant’s statement if “the
confession [were] redacted to eliminate not only the defendant’s name but
any reference to his or her existence” and if a proper limiting instruction
were given. But, crucially, Richardson cautioned that the State must not
“undo the effect of [a] limiting instruction by urging the jury to use [a co-
defendant’s] confession in evaluating [defendant’s] case”. 481 U.S. at 211
(emphasis added).

Together, these two cases reflect that even if the parties attempt to
anticipatorily cure a Bruton issue by redacting co-defendants’ statements in
advance, a problem can subsequently develop that would violate the
defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights. And in Richardson, the Supreme Court
recognized that such a concern could arise during the State’s closing
argument, even if there was no Bruton error as to admission of the evidence.

Numerous courts have recognized that a Bruton error can occur even

after admission of properly-redacted statements. See Washington v. Beard,

No. 07-3462, 2015 WL 234719 (ED. Penn. Jan. 16, 2015) (unpublished)

(prosecutor’s closing argument violated Bruton); Lee v. Smeal, No. 10-4669,




447 Fed.Appx. 357, 360 (3d Cir., October 6, 2011) (unpublished) (“the use
of Cox’s statements in the prosecutor’s closing argument was a clear Bruton
violation in that the statements were definitely used to incriminate Lee”);

U.S. v. Sherlock, 962 F.2d 1349, 1360-62 (9th Cir. 1989) (severance and/or

mistrial should have been granted when state used properly-redacted
statements in violation of Bruton during rebuttal closing argument); People
v. Cruz, 121 I11.2d 321, 333 (Ill. 1988) (state’s “attempts during closing
argument to lead the jury to connect defendant with Hernandez’ statements”
was a “deliberate and constitutionally unacceptable attempt by the
prosecution to circumvent the strictures of Bruton and the confrontation
clause.”).

Additionally, in finding a “waiver” of Turner’s Bruton claim based on

Turner’s acquiescence in the parties’ redactions, this Court overlooked the
State’s repeated assurances that it would not use the co-defendants’ redacted
statements as evidence against one another at trial. In opposing Hudson’s
motion to sever (which Turner joined (I[:276-79)), the State explained,

In this case, counsel’s entire argument is based on the
assumption that the State will use Defendant Turner’s statement
to implicate Defendant Hudson. This is not true at all. If the
State uses the statements of Defendant Turner, any reference to
Defendant Hudson can be redacted or replaced with a neutral
pronoun as approved by case law. As such, there is no basis to
sever.

10



(X1:2261) (emphasis added).

During oral argument on the co-defendant’s joint motions to sever, the
State again assured the Court that it had no intention of using the co-
defendants’ statements against one another, because that would be unlawful:

This is just a question of whether we have two individuals and

if they point the finger at each other. It can be sanitized. It can

be cleaned and it can be presented in a fashion. We're not

intending, nor wanting to say, I want to introduce A statement

where he says B did this. We know we can’t do that. And we

can go through this and we can clear that all up.

(IV:787) (emphasis added). Certainly, when Turner agreed to the redactions,
he had the right to expect that the State would do what it promised, and
refrain from making objectionable arguments that invited the jury to convict
him based on his co-defendant’s statements.

Unless this Court is prepared to find that the State’s improper closing
arguments were either inevitable or acceptable, trial counsel’s agreement to
the redactions could not constitute a “knowing and voluntary” waiver of
Turner’s Sixth Amendment rights to a fair closing argument. See Brady, 397
U.S. at 748 (waiver must be a “knowing, intelligent act[] done with
sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely
consequences.”).

This Court should grant rehearing and find that Turner did not

“waive” his Bruton objection to the State’s unconstitutional closing

11



argument by agreeing to redactions where the State promised that it would
not use the co-defendants’ statements against one-another at trial, and that
promise invited Turner’s agreement to the redactions in question.

3. This Court must apply Jeremias and the doctrine of
forfeiture when evaluating the Bruton error during closing
argument.

Turner acknowledges that trial counsel failed to contemporaneously
object to the State’s improper closing argument that violated his Sixth
Amendment rights. As such, Turner arguably “forfeited” his objection to the
Bruton error during the State’s closing arguments, but he certainly did not
“waive” it.? Forfeited errors, particularly those of a constitutional nature,

must be considered under the doctrine of plain error. See Olano, 507 U.S. at

732 (discussing forfeited error under federal rules); accord Jeremias v. State,

134 Nev. 46 (2018).

In Jeremias, this Court described Nevada’s doctrine of forfeiture and

plain error as follows:

Nevada law provides a mechanism for an appellant to seek
review of an error he otherwise forfeited. NRS 178.602
(explaining when an unpreserved error “may be noticed”).
Before this court will correct a forfeited error, an appellant must
demonstrate that: (1) there was an “error”; (2) the error is
“plain,” meaning that it is clear under current law from a casual

2 See Olano, 507 U.S. at 733 (quoting, Zerbst, 304 U.S at 464) (“forfeiture is
the failure to make the timely assertion of a right”).

12



inspection of the record; and (3) the error affected the
defendant’s substantial rights.

Jeremias, 134 Nev. at 50 (citing Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545 (2003)).

After discussing that doctrine and noting the possibility that the defense may
have strategically failed to object to the courtroom closure in that case,
Jeremias still evaluated the courtroom closure issue on its merits, pursuant
to plain error doctrine.

As explained above, this Court misapprehended both the facts and the
law in this case by concluding that “appellant waived the Brufton challenge.”
Cf. Opinion at 2. To determine whether to correct the Bruton error that
occurred during the State’s closing arguments, this Court should apply

Jeremias (which addressed forfeiture) instead of Sayedzada v. State, 134

Nev. 283 (Nev. App. 2018) (which addressed waiver). Because Jeremias
directly controls this dispositive issue, rehearing is necessary. See NRAP
40(c)(2)B).

4. Although this Court briefly discussed Jeremias, it failed to
determine whether counsel’s failure to object to the State’s
closing arguments could “reasonably be construed as
intentional”.

This Court correctly observed that Jeremias “offers additional

guidance” as to whether Turner adequately preserved his Bruton issues for

appeal. See Opinion at pp. 10-11. Unfortunately, by finding “waiver” as

13



opposed to “forfeiture”, and by ignoring the forfeited error that occurred
during the State’s closing arguments, this Court failed to apply Jeremias and
decide whether to exercise its discretion to correct that constitutional error.
In Jeremias, this Court declined to correct a forfeited error because it
found that the defendant’s failure to object to a minor courtroom closure
during voir dire “could reasonably be construed as intentional.” 134 Nev. at
52-53. But Jeremias reached that conclusion only after conducting a detailed
factual analysis. Id. Unfortunately, this Court failed to make any factual

findings that Turner’s failure to object to the State’s unconstitutional closing

argument “could reasonably be construed as intentional.” Cf. Jeremias, 134
Nev. at 52-53. Instead, the Court confined its legal analysis to the period up-
to-and-including the admission of the redacted ‘statements, deeming any
concerns that subsequently arose about those statements to be “waived”.
That was error. This Court should rehear the Bruton issue and determine
whether, under Jeremias, Turner’s failure to object during closing argument
could reasonably be construed as intentional. Such a finding is necessary for
this Court to determine whether to exercise its discretion to correct that
forfeited error.

/17

11/
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5. By confining its Bruton analysis to the time period up-to-
and-including the admission of the redacted statements, this
Court overlooked the trial court’s continuing duty to grant

a severance whenever prejudice appears.
By focusing solely on the period up-to-and-including the admission of
Hudson’s redacted statements, the Court overlooked the well-settled

principle that “the trial judge has a continuing duty at all stages of the trial to

grant a severance if prejudice does appear.” Schaffer v. United States, 362

U.S. 511, 516 (1960); Chartier v. State, 124 Nev. 760, 765 (2008) (same).

Turner relied on that proposition in his Opening Brief. See AOB at 23. Here,
regardless of whether Turner previously agreed to the redactions in question,
prejudice from the parties’ joinder became glaringly obvious when the State
unlawfully urged the jury to use Hudson’s statements against him during its
closing arguments. At that point, even absent a defense objection, the trial

court should have put a stop to the State’s unconstitutional argument and

granted a mistrial or severance, sua sponte. See, e.g., Collier v. State, 101
Nev. 473, 477 (Nev. 1985) (district court’s “duty to ensure that every
accused shall receive a fair trial” . . . “requires that trial courts exercise their
discretionary power to control obvious prosecutorial misconduct sua
sponte.”). The Court’s failure to consider this controlling authority

necessitates rehearing.

15



6. Pursuant to Jeremias, this Court should reverse Turner’s
attempt-murder convictions for plain error.

a. The Bruton error during closing arguments was plain and
violated Turner’s substantial rights.

Unlike Jeremias, which involved a non-prejudicial error at the
beginning of a trial that could easily have been corrected with minimal
disruption, both the timing and the severity of the Bruton error that occurred
in this case affected Turner’s substantial rights. Here, the Bruton error
occurred during the State’s closing arguments, right before the jury began
deliberating, when the State invited the jury to convict Turner of attempted
murder based on the out-of-court statements of his non-testifying co-
defendant in violation of the Sixth Amendment. The State actually used
Hudson’s out-of-court statements to refute Turner’s theory of defense that a
third person held the gun that shot Officer Robertson in the leg. Where the
State’s arguments violated both Bruton and Richardson, that error was
“plain” from even a casual inspection of the record.

Unlike the relatively-minor error in Jeremias, the Bruton error in this

case clearly violated Turner’s substantial rights. See Ducksworth v. State,

113 Nev. 780, 794 (1997). As in Ducksworth, evidence that Turner
committed attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon was largely

circumstantial. At trial, the State conceded that Turner and Hudson “didn’t

16



go there with the intent to kill a cop.” (X:2106). So, to convict Turner of the
two counts of attempted murder, the State had to prove that Turner
personally fired a weapon at the police. See AOB at 62-63. In closing, the
State argued that both Hudson and Turner possessed and fired their own
individual weapons, and that each man’s specific intent to kill was formed
when the door opened and they each opened fire. (X:2100,2107).

But the State’s only evidence of “intent to kill” was that the weapons
were fired when the door opened. And unless Turner actually fired one of
those weapons, the State could not prove that he, personally, had the specific

intent to kill. See, e.g., Sharma v. State, 118 Nev. 648 (2002); Bolden v.

State, 121 Nev. 908 (2005).

Without pointing the jury to Hudson’s statements, the State had »no
direct evidence that Turner possessed or fired any weapon during the
underlying conspiracy to commit burglary. See AOB at 27-30. Turner did
not confess to holding or firing a weapon. Turner’s statements to police (i.e.,
that he was present at the scene, that he knew there were guns, and that there
were only two guys who drove to the scene) were insufficient on their own
to establish that Turner fired a weapon with the intent to kill.

Ultimately, it was the State’s improper closing argument that

connected all the dots for the jury in this case. See, e.g., Washington v.

17



Beard, No. 07-3462, 2015 WL 234719 (E.D. Penn. Jan., 16, 2015)
(unpublished) (reversing where prosecutor’s closing argument violated

Bruton); U.S. v. Sherlock, 962 F.2d 1349, 1360-62 (9th Cir. 1989)

(severance and/or mistrial should have been granted when state used

properly-redacted statements in violation of Bruton during rebuttal closing

argument); People v. Cruz, 121 I11.2d 321, 333 (Ill. 1988) (“any possibility

that the jury would be able to follow the court’s limiting instructions was
removed when the prosecution encouraged the jurors to consider each
codefendant’s admission against the other defendants”). Without question,
the State’s unlawful closing argument affected Turner’s substantial rights.

b. This Court should exercise its discretion to correct the
Bruton error in this case.

In Jeremias, this Court declined to exercise its discretion to correct a
non-prejudicial but structural error because it found that “Jeremias’ failure to
object could reasonably be construed as intentional.” 134 Nev. at 52-53, 412
P.3d at 50. Turner submits that the timing of the error in this case (during the
State’s closing arguments as opposed to the beginning of the trial) makes it
very unlikely that Turner’s failure to object was a tactical attempt at securing
a “do-over”. The trial was virtually over when the Bruton error occurred.
Had Turner objected and successfully moved for a mistrial during the State’s

closing arguments, he could have interposed a double jeopardy challenge to
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any retrial. See, e.g., Thomas v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 133 Nev. 468

(2017). But by failing to object and move for a mistrial, counsel
extinguished that possibility for Turner.

More importantly, however, trial counsel may not have known she
could object to this type of Bruton error because this Court has never
expressly prohibited the State from making such arguments in closing.
Generally, the State is permitted to “argue inferences from the evidence and

offer conclusions on contested issues”. See Miller v. State, 121 Nev. 92, 100

(2005). But without question, Bruton and Richardson still limit the
permissible inferences that the State can make from the evidence that is
admitted. It is for that very reason that Turner now urges this Court to rehear
this case and clarify, in no uncertain terms, that prosecutors in the State of
Nevada may not make closing arguments in violation of Bruton that

undermine the court’s limiting instructions.

C.THIS COURT SHOULD REEVALUATE THE
HARMFULNESS OF THE UNNOTICED EXPERT
TESTIMONY ON STIPPLING.

This Court agrees that the State engaged in a “trial by ambush” when
it failed to put Turner on notice before trial that stippling would be an issue

in the case. Opinion at 15-16. This Court agrees that “[n]Jotice of the

stippling evidence was important to the defense’s preparation, where
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Turner’s theory of the case was that Hudson alone was responsible for
bringing the weapons to Clarkson’s house and that no evidence placed any
of the guns in Turner’s hands during the crime.” Id. at 16. This Court agrees
that “[a]llowing Lester to testify to skin stippling without notice effectively
prevented Turner from preparing for cross-examination. It also prevented
Turner from obtaining — or even consulting — a rebuttal expert” 1d.
(emphasis added).

Yet, inexplicably, the Court deems the error harmless because: (1)
“the unobjected-to-medical records of Turner established the presence of
skin stippling” and (2) Dr. Amy Urban testified in the State’s rebuttal case
that stippling is caused by “gas and debris” from a gunshot, suggesting that
“Turner was close to one of the firearms at the time the shooting broke out.”
Id. at 16.

In reaching this conclusion, this Court overlooked two key facts. First,
this Court overlooked the fact that Turner stipulated to the admission of his
medical records the day before Anya Lester’s testimony put him on notice
that the State would be arguing about stippling.> Turner had no way of

knowing when he agreed to admit his medical records on Day 6 of the trial,

s Turner’s medical records were admitted into evidence by stipulation on
Day 6 of the trial at (IX:1798-99). Anya Lester testified on Day 7 of the trial
at (IX:1860-1946).
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that on Day 7, the State would make “stippling” a focus of its case. The
Court agrees this was “ambush”. Finding harmlessness under these
circumstances effectively rewards the State for its improper trial tactics.
More importantly, however, the Court overlooked the fact that Turner
requested a continuance to obtain his own expert on stippling, which was
denied. (IX:1907). This Court cannot evaluate the harmlessness of the
district court’s error by looking solely to the evidence that the State
presented against him. The Court must also consider that Turner’s ability to
rebut the State’s evidence was thwarted, which was harmful, in and of itself.

See, e.g., Mathews v. State, 134 Nev. 512, 514 (2018).

D. THIS COURT SHOULD REEVALUATE CUMULATIVE
ERROR.

Finally, to the extent this Court agrees that the Bruton error during
closing arguments was forfeited but not waived (or finds that the district
court erred in failing to grant a continuance), Turner asks this Court to re-

evaluate the cumulative effect of all errors, to include the forfeited error

identified here. See, e.g., Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1191 (2007)

(cumulating both preserved and unpreserved errors together at trial to

warrant reversal); accord U.S. v. Munoz, 150 F.3d 401, 418 (5th Cir. 1998);

U.S. v. Caraway, 534 F.3d 1290, 1302 (10th Cir. 2008). Turner submits that

if unpreserved errors are considered with those identified in this Court’s
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Opinion, reversal will be warranted pursuant to Valdez and Parle v. Runnels,

505 F.3d 922, 927 (9th Cir. 2007), because the cumulative effect of those
errors violated Turner’s state and federal constitutional rights to due process

and a fair trial.

1. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should grant rehearing.
Respectfully submitted,

DARIN F. IMLAY
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By: /s/ Deborah L. Westbrook
DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK, #9285
Chief Deputy Public Defender
309 South Third Street, #226
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
(702) 455-4588
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OPINION
By the Court, SILVER, J.:

Under Bruton v. United States, £he admission of a nontestifying.
codefendant’s inculpatory statement that expressly implicates the
defendant violates the Confrontation Clause. 391 U.S. 123, 135-36 (1968).
In this case, we are faced with an issue of first impression regarding the
preservation of a Bruion challenge—appellant asserts that his
Confrontation Clause rights under Bruton were violated when the district
court admitted his codefendant’s statements, but the State contends that
the appellant waived any Bruton challenge. We agree that under these
particular facts, appellant waived the Bruton challenge. Appellant’s actions
of cooperating to redact the statements, agreeing to the redacted
statements’ admission, indicating an intent to no longer pursue the Bruton
challenge, and failing to thereafter object to the statements showed a lack
of intention to preserve the argument for appeal. And although we agree
with some of appellant’s other points of error, we ultimately affirm the
verdict, as those errors were harmless and do not amount to cumulative
error warranting reversal.

FACTS

Eric Clarkson heard noises on his back patio, just outside his
bedroom window, around 3:30 a.m. That patio was covered and screened,
and separated from the rest of the backyard. The lights inside his house
were off, and through the window, Clarkson was able to see a young man,
although he could not see the intruder’s face. Clarkson called 9-1-1 and
alerted his housemate, Willoughby Potter de Grimaldi. Grimaldi looked out
the window and, like Clarkson, saw a man on the patio but could not see his

face. Grimaldi noted the intruder was wearing a cap and appeared to be
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cocking a shotgun. Someone then began to beat on the front door, and
Grimaldi looked out a window to see another man, who ran away down the
street. Grimaldi also thought he saw a third man pass by his bedroom
window.

Officers Robertson and Grego-Smith arrived approximately five
minutes after receiving the call from dispatch and approached the house
quietly. They briefly checked the sides of the house before Clarkson let
them inside. Leaving the lights off, the officers moved through the home
and opened the back door to check the backyard. The intruders immediately
opened fire. At least two bullets flew into the home before the officers could
react, narrowly missing Grimaldi and Clarkson. One shot crossed the room
while the other exploded mid-air, blowing shrapnel throughout the area.
Grimaldi described one shot as appearing as a “shooting star” while the
other exploded like “fireworks.” The officers could hear that one of the shots
was from a high-powered rifle. Another bullet hit Officer Robertson in the
upper thigh, severely damaging his femur. Officer Robertson collapsed
while Officer Grego-Smith returned fire.

Additional officers arrived on the scene with a K-9, who located
Clemon Hudson in the backyard. Officers approached to find Hudson lying
on the ground, injured, with a shotgun between his legs. Officers also began
patrolling a mile-wide perimeter around Clarkson’s home, looking for other
suspects. After someone reported a suspicious person traveling through a
backyard, officers located appellant Steven Turner walking down a street
within the perimeter. He was bleeding and had what appeared to be a bullet
wound to his leg, although Turner told officers he had been injured while
jumping over a fence. Officers transported him to UMC, where doctors,

including Dr. Amy Urban, examined him for a possible gunshot wound.
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Doctors found shrapnel in Turner’s leg and noted the presence of “stippling”
on his leg, foot, and ankle.

Back at Clarkson’s home, officers found a damaged 12-gauge
Mossberg pump-action shotgun, an SKS Yugo Rifle, and a Beretta handgun
in the patio area. Officers also located Hudson’s vehicle, with the keys in
the ignition, outside Clarkson’s home. Inside the car they found two cell
phones, a gun magazine, a loose round cartridge, and Turner’s two dogs. A
later trace of one of the phones led to Turner’s residence. Officers also
recovered surveillance video showing Turner traversing yards, parking lots,
and fences on foot immediately after the incident.

Turner and Hudson each gave voluntary statements to police,
admitting to going to the home to steal marijuana. Each blamed the other
for contriving to burglarize the home and for bringing the guns.! Turner
told detectives he followed Hudson over the wall, through the yard, and up
to the patio area. The shooting then broke out, and Turner claimed he fled
the yard and waited on a couch in a nearby backyard for a time before
setting out for a friend’s house, at which point he was apprehended. Turner
admitted seeing the SKS in Hudson’s car. He told detectives the SKS had
previously been stolen from his uncle and accurately described the gun to
detectives, but he denied bringing the gun, Turner claimed the burglary
was Hudson’s idea, and Hudson carried both the SKS and the shotgun.
Turner denied ever holding or firing a weapon at the scene. He also denied

working with a third person during the crime. Hudson, meanwhile, blamed

1Although Turner and Hudson each referred to the other by his street
name when speaking to police, the parties do not contest that each was
referencing the other, and we therefore use their given names.
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Turner for contriving to burglarize the home and stated they both fired the
weapons at police.

Turner and Hudson were indicted and tried jointly. The State
charged them under three alternate theories: directly committing the
crimes, aiding or abetting, and conspiracy. Turner conceded to committing
conspiracy and attempted burglary but contested the remaining charges.
At trial, he argued that he merely went to the house and stayed at the back
of the yard, and that he ran when the shooting broke out. Turner also
argued that three or more people had been in the yard that night, that he
did not match the descriptions of the intruders, and that the State failed to
connect him to the crimes.

Hudson and Turner filed a pretrial motion to sever, arguing
that their statements to detectives inculpated each other such that a joint
trial would violate Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). The district
court initially denied the motion without prejudice, and the State redacted
the statements to remove names and, to the extent possible, references to
other persons. At subsequent status checks, Turner agreed with the State’s
redactions but proffered additional redactions, and later he stated “we’ve
submitted our proposed redactions. If Your Honor is inclined to not sever
the case we would . ..I guess not renew.” The court indicated it would
review the redacted statements, and Turner and the State continued to
work toward satisfactory redactions.

At a later status check, Turner acknowledged receiving and
reviewing the redacted statements and stated that while he no longer
challenged the admission of his own statements, he “may have some
additional motion practice in the case” regarding his Bruton challenge to

the admission of Hudson’s statements.
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Turner did not renew the motion to sever. At trial Turner
requested a limiting instruction, and the district court accordingly
instructed the jury to use Hudson’s statements only as evidence against
Hudson. Turner did not object to the statements’ admission. Turner’s
redacted statements were likewise admitted into evidence.

State witnesses could not link the DNA or fingerprint evidence
recovered from the scene to Turner. However, they found Hudson’s DNA
on blood splatters and a beanie hat found at the scene, as well as his right-
hand fingerprints on the Mossberg shotgun. Firearms and toolmark expert
Anya Lester compared the guns to evidence found at the scene and
described her process for test firing a gun: shooting the gun into a water
tank and then examining the fired bullets and ejected cartridges. She
determined that the Mossberg shotgun had been fired at the scene but was
unable to test that gun because it had been damaged. While Lester could
not conclusively establish that someone fired the SKS at the scene, she
testified the cartridge and ammunition evidence was consistent with the
SKS having been fired. Lester also opined that both guns would require
two hands to fire, and explained the SKS had a trigger pull of approximately
five pounds. Lester further addressed skin stippling from a gunshot, as did
Dr. Amy Urban. Dr. Urban also testified to Turner’s injury and the skin
stippling on his leg.

The State used the stippling evidence during closing argument
to counter Turner’s defense that he had stayed in the back of the yard away
from the shooting, by arguing that the stippling placed Turner closer to the
gunfire. The State used Turner’s and Hudson’s statements to argue that
only two people committed the crime and that Turner was the other person

mentioned in Hudson’s redacted statements.
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The jury convicted Turner and Hudson on all counts, and the
court sentenced Turner to an aggregate total of 480 months in prison with
parole eligibility after 168 months., Turner moved for a new trial, in
relevant part on grounds that the district court should have severed the
trial and that the joint trial violated Bruton, but the court denied the
motion. Turner appeals.?

DISCUSSION

In this opinion, we first address the circumstances under which
a party preserves a Bruton challenge for appeal, and we conclude Turner
waived those arguments here. We next consider whether the district court
improperly admitted Lester’s and Dr. Urban’s expert testimony regarding
stippling. We agree that the district court abused its discretion by
admitting Lester’s unnoticed stippling testimony, but the error was
harmless in light of Dr. Urban’s testimony and the medical records, and
Turner fails to show plain error as to Dr. Urban’s testimony. Finally, we
address whether the State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct and
conclude that while there were several instances of misconduct, it was
ultimately harmless in light of the evidence adduced at trial.? For those

same reasons, we conclude cumulative error does not warrant reversal.

2This case is before this court on a petition for review of a decision by
the court of appeals.

3Turner also argues that the presence of uniformed officers in the
courtroom prejudiced the proceedings and warrants reversal. However, the
mere presence of officers in a courtroom does not demonstrate prejudice,
and the record is insufficient for us to determine whether prejudice
otherwise resulted here. See Jones v. Davis, 890 F.3d 559, 571 (5th Cir.
2018). We therefore do not reach this issue. See Johnson v. State, 113 Nev.
772, 776, 942 P.2d 167, 170 (1997) (“We cannot properly consider matters
not appearing in [the] record.”).
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Whether Turner waived his Bruton argument
Bruton provides that the admission of a nontestifying

codefendant’s inculpatory statement that expressly implicates the
defendant violates the Confrontation Clause. 391 U.S. 123, 135-36 (1968).
Turner argues that allowing Hudson’s redacted statements at the joint trial
violated his constitutional rights pursuant to Bruton. The State counters
that Turner waived his Bruton challenge by stating, before trial, that he
had no objections and then failing to object during trial to the statements’
admission. Turner contends that he preserved the Bruton challenge by
filing a motion to sever, expressly reserving the right to re-raise the
argument later, and moving for a new trial.

The arguments raise a novel issue for this court. Namely,
whether a defendant waives or forfeits a Bruton argument where the
defendant moves to sever the trial on Bruton grounds but thereafter
cooperates to redact the statements and neither objects to the statements
at trial nor renews the Bruton argument before the admission of the
statements to the jury. The United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth
Circuit addressed a similar situation in United States v. Sarracino, 340 F.3d
1148 (10th Cir. 2003). There, three defendants were jointly tried. Id. at
1158. One defendant moved for severance before trial under Bruton, which
the court denied. Id. The defendant thereafter agreed to cooperate with the
other defendants and the State to redact the challenged statements and did
not object to the statements’ admission at trial. Id. at 1159. But when
agreeing to cooperate with the efforts to redact the statements prior to trial,
the defendant clarified on the record that he did not waive his objection to

the joint trial by cooperating. Id. The Tenth Circuit concluded that, under
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these facts, the defendant’s pretrial “position was clear” and that counsel
did not waive the severance issue before trial. Id. As to whether failure to
object at trial caused waiver, the court called the issue “close” but ultimately
concluded the argument was “sufficiently preserved” without further
explanation. Id.

Similarly, the California Court of Appeal considered whether a
defendant waived a Bruton challenge by failing to object at trial. People v.
Archer, 99 Cal. Rptr. 2d 230, 233 (Ct. App. 2000). There, the prosecutor
moved to enter the codefendant’s redacted statement into evidence. Id.
Defense counsel objected prior to trial and unsuccessfully moved to sever
the trial. Id. While the appeals court did not provide a detailed explanation,
the court concluded “in the context of the pretrial proceedings” that
counsel’s pretrial actions sufficiently preserved the argument for appeal.
Id. Conversely, in United States v. Kaatz, the Court of Appeals for the Terith
Circuit concluded the admission of a codefendant’s incriminating statement
did not warrant reversal where no defendant objected before or during trial
or moved for severance. 705 F.2d 1237, 1243-44 (10th Cir. 1983).

From these cases, we conclude that cooperating with efforts to
redact inculpatory statements and thereafter failing to raise an objection at
trial does not per se waive a Bruton argument. However, as addressed in
Sarracinoe, the record must show that the defendant intended to preserve
the argument for appeal despite the cooperation and lack of an objection at
trial. 340 F.3d at 1159. It follows then, that if the record does not show the
defendant intended to preserve the argument, the argument is forfeited or
waived. See id. For example, in Sayedzada v. State, the court of appeals
considered waiver in the context of juror challenges for cause. 134 Nev. 283,

286, 419 P.3d 184, 189 (Ct. App. 2018). There, the defendant initially
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challenged a juror for cause but thereafter did not renew the challenge, and
the court considered the issue waived on appeal. Id. at 286, 288, 419 P.3d
at 189, 190. In addressing the policy concerns supporting waiver under
those facts, the court explained that “[plarties should not be able to
strategically place questionable jurors on the jury as a means of cultivating
grounds for reversal should the verdict be unfavorable.” Id. at 287, 419 P.3d
at 190.

Our decision in Jeremias v. State offers additional guidance.
134 Nev. 46, 412 P.3d 43 (2018). There, the defendant argued that the
district court’s decision to exclude his family members from the courtroom
during voir dire prejudiced him. Id. at 49, 412 P.3d at 47. But the defendant
did not object to the decision in the district court, and we construed that
failure as intentional. Id. at 52, 412 P.3d at 50. In so doing, we
distinguished between invited error (an affirmative action by the defendant
that introduces the error), waiver (an intentional relinquishment of a
known right), and forfeiture, which from Jeremias can be described as the
intentional failure to object, having full knowledge of the relevant facts. Id.
at 52-53, 412 P.3d at 50. Specifically, we explained that the defendant
forfeited his argument where the subject events happened in open court; the
prosecutor relayed the reasons for his actions to the defense attorney; the
defendant said nothing; and the decision to not object appeared, from the
circumstances, to be intentional. Id. at 52, 412 P.3d at 50. Similar to
Sayedzada, we warned against correcting errors on appeal where to do so,
under the circumstances, “would encourage defendants who are aware their
rights are being violated to do nothing to prevent it, knowing that they can

obtain a new trial as a matter of law in the event they are convicted.” Id.

10
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From these cases, we extract the following rule: where the
defendant moves to sever trial on Bruton grounds but the district court
determines the statements can be sufficiently redacted, the defendant does
not necessarily waive the Bruton challenge by thereafter participating in
the efforts to redact the statements. Nevertheless, to clearly preserve a
Bruton challenge for appellate review in this context, a defendant must
formally object, on the record, after the parties have agreed upon redactions
and prior to the district court’s admission of a codefendant’s statement. We
note that determining whether a defendant preserves a Bruton argument
for appeal is a highly fact-based inquiry that must be considered under the
totality of the circumstances. Yet clarifying the objection on the record after
a statement has been redacted by the court adequately preserves the
objection for appellate review, as it clarifies that the defendant does not
waive the argument and prevents unnecessary confusion. Cf. BMW v. Roth,
127 Nev. 122, 136-38, 252 P.3d 649, 658-59 (2011) (holding that the mere
filing of a motion in limine does not serve as a continuing objection to an.
attorney’s violation of an order in limine and that a contemporaneous
objection is required at trial “to prevent litigants from wasting judicial,
party, and citizen-juror resources”).

Our holding here resolves two concerns. First, it recognizes
that the law favors joint trials, Jones v. State, 111 Nev, 848, 853, 899 P.2d
544, 547 (1995), and encourages defendants to collaborate in redacting
statements. Second, our holding prevents defendants from strategically
withholding a Bruton argument in the hopes that, if the defendant is
convicted, Bruton will provide grounds for a new trial following a reversal
on appeal. See, e.g., Sayedzada, 134 Nev. at 287, 419 P.3d at 190; Jeremias,
134 Nev. at 52, 412 P.3d at 50; BMW, 127 Nev. at 137, 252 P.3d at 659 (“The

11
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courts cannot adopt a rule that would permit counsel to sit silently when an
error is committed at trial with the hope that they will get a new trial
because of that error if they lose.” (quoting U.S. Aviation Underwriters v.
Olympia Wings, Inc., 896 F.2d 949, 956 (5th Cir. 1990))).

Turning to the case at hand, we conclude the record shows
Turner waived his Bruton argument. Although Turner moved to sever trial
and raised the Bruton argument below, Turner did not clarify, on the record,
that he wished to preserve that argument for appeal after satisfactory
redactions had been made by the parties. To the contrary, after Turner and
the State agreed upon redactions, defense counsel acknowledged that
Turner had no further challenge to the redacted statements, and nothing in
the record shows that Turner renewed his objection before the admission of
Hudson’s statements. Under these particular facts, we decline to consider
Turner’s arguments or correct any Bruton error.

Whether the district court erroneously admitted unnoticed expert testimony

Turner next argues that the district court improperly admitted
firearm and toolmark expert Anya Lester’s unnoticed expert testimony
regarding stippling. He further argues that the district court also
improperly allowed Dr. Amy Urban, Turner’s treating physician at UMC, to
testify, where the State did not notice that expert. We generally review a
district court’s decision to admit expert testimony for an abuse of discretion.
Mathews v. State, 134 Nev. 512, 514, 424 P.3d 634, 637 (2018). However,
we address for plain error alleged errors raised for the first time on appeal.
See Browning v. State, 124 Nev. 517, 533, 188 P.3d 60, 71 (2008) (holding
that the failure to object below generally waives an argument on appeal,

absent plain error).

12
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We explained in Hallmark v. Eldridge, 124 Nev. 492, 498-99,
189 P.3d 646, 650-51 (2008), that district courts must ensure experts are
sufficiently qualified before permitting the witness to testify as an expert:

To testify as an expert witness under NRS 50.275,
the witness must satisfy the following three
requirements: (1) he or she must be qualified in an
area of “scientific, technical or other specialized
knowledge” (the qualification requirement); (2) his
or her specialized knowledge must “assist the trier
of fact to understand the evidence or to determine
a fact in issue” (the assistance requirement); and
(3) his or her testimony must be limited “to matters
within the scope of [his or her specialized]
knowledge” (the limited scope requirement).

Id. at 498, 189 P.3d at 650 (alteration in original) (quoting NRS 50.275).

Our statutes also require parties to disclose expert witnesses
and provide a brief statement of the expected substance of the expert’s
testimony at least 21 days before trial. NRS 174.234(2). Further, each
party has a continuing duty under NRS 174.234 to provide written notice of
any expert or expert testimony the party intends to call or introduce during
its case-in-chief “as soon as practicable after the party determines that the
party intends to call an additional witness.” NRS 174.234(3). Although the
law favors allowing even late-disclosed witnesses to testify in criminal
cases, Sampson v. State, 121 Nev. 820, 827, 122 P.3d 1255, 1260 (2005),
courts should exclude an undisclosed witness if the State’s failure to notice
that witness or the content of the witness’s testimony constitutes bad faith,
NRS 174.234(3).

By mandating that parties disclose both the expert witness and
the content of the witness’s testimony, NRS 174.234 also serves to prevent
trial by ambush. “Trial by ambush traditionally occurs where a party

withholds discoverable information and then later presents this

13
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information at trial, effectively ambushing the opposing party through
gaining an advantage by the surprise attack.” Land Baron Invs., Inc. v.
Bonnie Springs Family Ltd. P’ship, 131 Nev. 686, 701 n.14, 356 P.3d 511,
522 n.14 (2015). We note NRS 174.234 is the criminal procedural rule
equivalent to NRCP 16.1(a), which requires civil litigants to disclose expert
witnesses and the content of the experts’ testimony at least 30 days before
trial. Such rules “serve[] to place all parties on an even playing field and
to prevent trial by ambush or unfair surprise.” Sanders v. Sears-Page, 131
Nev. 500, 517, 354 P.3d 201, 212 (Ct. App. 2015); ¢f. R.C. Olmstead, Inc. v.
CU Interface, LLC, 606 ¥.3d 262, 271 (6th Cir. 2010) (addressing the federal
procedural rule requiring parties to disclose expert witness opinions and
explaining that the reports must explain how and why the expert reached
the opinion the expert intends to testify to, to avoid an ambush at trial).
Anya Lester’s stippling testimony

During the State’s case-in-chief, the prosecutor asked Lester
“[wlhat is stippling?” She answered that stippling is “small marks that you
could get on your skin if—if you’re shot, you have a gunshot wound. And
powder stippling in particular is 1f that powder hits your skin. You get, like,
little scratches or bruises where that powder would impact your skin.” The
State then asked whether there was a particular range or distance
associated with stippling, and Lester stated that it was difficult o give an
exact number because of the variables involved. When the State asked
whether she had ever seen a case of stippling from more than 24 inches
away, Lester began to answer with “[ijn my limited experience with
stippling,” and Turner objected on grounds that Lester was not noticed or
qualified to “talk about medical terminology and what may occur when a

bullet impacts a human being.”
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Voicing concern over Lester’s limited experience, the court
conducted voir dire outside the jury’s presence. Lester stated she had
training on stippling and “distance determination from gunshot residue,”
primarily from a 2011 training that was not disclosed on her curriculum
vitae (CV). She admitted to having limited experience with stippling and
acknowledged the State asked her to look into stippling the day before she
testified. Turner protested that Lester was only disclosed as a firearm and
toolmark expert, not an expert on soft tissue damage to skin resulting from
a gunshot. Turner asked for a continuance, which the court denied. The
district court then allowed the prosecutor to ask Lester to define and explain
stippling. Lester also opined that stippling happens at a close-to-
intermediate range, and on redirect, she clarified that, in her experience,
she had seen stippling occur “from a near-contact shot out to approximately
36 inches.”

We agree with Turner that the district court abused its
discretion in admitting Lester’s stippling testimony. The prosecutor elicited
the stippling testimony during the State’s case-in-chief in violation of NRS
174.234(2)'s requirement that the State disclose the substance of any expert
testimony it will offer during the case-in-chief. While the State noticed
Lester as an expert in firearms and toolmarks, it did not notice her as an
expert on stippling on human skin. Lester’s CV did not mention that her
training included stippling, instead focusing on her expertise in analyzing
guns and matching expended bullets to firearms.# Accordingly, while the

defense was on notice that Lester would try to match expended bullets to

4The record shows that the State first mentioned the stippling issue
to Lester the day before she testified.
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firearms from the crime scene, the defense was not on notice that Lester
would testify regarding any type of stippling on human skin from gunshot
residue.

Moreover, we believe that the record shows Lester was
unqualified as an expert under Hallmark to testify to the substance of the
effect of stippling on skin. Lester explained that she had training regarding
gunfire and gunshot residue. Lester’s training with firearms and gunshot
residue may have qualified her as an expert for purposes of defining
stippling as it pertained to firing a bullet from a distance into a wall or other
such surface as she testified to on voir dire; however, she was clearly
unqualified as an expert in the area of testifying as to stippling of human
skin from a gunshot wound. Here, the only relevance called into question
by the defense was skin stippling as to Turner’s gunshot wound. Because
Lester admitted she had only limited experience in that area—and did not
explain how her firearms training qualified her as an expert as to skin
stippling—we conclude the district court erred by allowing Lester to testify
as an expert as to skin stippling from gunshot wounds.

The problematic aspects of Lester’s testimony do not end based
on her being unqualified, however, as this situation can be fairly
characterized as trial by ambush. Notice of the stippling evidence was
important to the defense’s preparation, where Turner’s theory of the case
was that Hudson alone was responsible for bringing the weapons to
Clarkson’s house and that no evidence placed any of the guns in Turner’s

hands during the crime. The skin stippling evidence, viewed in light of the
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other evidence, strongly suggested Turner shot the SKS.5 Allowing Lester
to testify to skin stippling without notice effectively prevented Turner from
preparing for cross-examination. It also prevented Turner from obtaining—
or even consulting—a rebuttal expert.

Although Lester’s stippling testimony is deeply troubling, we
nevertheless conclude the error does not warrant reversal. Turner’s own
inculpatory statements placed him on or near the patio when the shooting
started, and the unobjected-to medical records of Turner established the
presence of skin stippling. Moreover, Dr. Urban’s testimony, discussed
further below, that stippling is caused by “gas and debris” from a gunshot,
independently suggested Turner was close to one of the firearms at the time
the shooting broke out. Accordingly, the errors here were ultimately
harmless. See NRS 178.598 (“Any error, defect, irregularity or variance
which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded.”); see also
Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 69-70, 17 P.3d 397, 407-08 (2001) (reviewing
improperly admitted testimony for harmless error where that testimony
was “supported by other credible evidence”).

Dr. Amy Urban’s testimony
We next consider whether the district court abused its

discretion by admitting Dr. Urban’s testimony. Turner did not object below,
and accordingly we review for plain error. See Browning, 124 Nev. at 5633,
188 P.3d at 71 (“Generally, the failure to object precludes appellate review

absent plain error.”).

5Namely, other evidence showed that both the SKS and the Mossberg
were shot at the same time, that Hudson shot the Mossberg, and that only
Turner and Hudson were present during the crime.
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The State called Dr. Urban after Turner asked the court to take
judicial notice of the medical dictionary definition of stippling and the State
disagreed with that definition.® Dr. Urban defined stippling and testified
to Turner’s medical treatment. Dr. Urban testified that Turner’s wound
showed stippling, which she defined as “little black marks that go around
the skin of a wound from a gunshot wound. It’s from high-pressure gas and
debris.” Turner’s medical records, which the parties stipulated to admit,
noted stippling to his lower leg, ankle, and foot, as well as shrapnel in his
leg.

We conclude Turner fails to show plain error here. Turner’s
medical records were admitted into evidence before Dr. Urban testified, and
those records listed Dr. Urban as Turner’s treating physician and detailed
the presence of skin stippling on Turner. Because Dr. Urban testified to
medical records that were already admitted into evidence, her testimony
relaying what was already in the medical records did not affect Turner’s
substantial rights. Cf. Mitchell v, State, 124 Nev. 807, 818-19, 192 P.3d 721,
729 (2008) (concluding the State’s failure to notice an expert was not plain
error where appellant did not show the testimony prejudiced his substantial
rights); Jones v. State, 113 Nev. 454, 467-68, 937 P.2d 55, 63-64 (1997)

(agreeing the prosecutor improperly questioned an expert against the

6We note Deputy District Attorney Giordani misrepresented to the
district court judge that “we have our doctor [Urban], she’s noticed.” This
was false. Although the State noticed Officer Robertson’s treating doctors,
the State never noticed Turner’s treating doctors, nor did the State detail
pursuant to statute Dr. Urban’s expected testimony or that she would
testify to the appearance of stippling around Turner’s gunshot wound.
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court’s directive, but concluding the improper questions did not result in
unfair prejudice in light of the evidence).

Whether prosecutorial misconduct warrants reversal

Turner raises numerous instances of alleged prosecutorial
misconduct during closing arguments, which he argues cumulatively
warrant reversal.” In evaluating claims of prosecutorial misconduct, we use
a two-step analysis and determine, first, if the conduct was improper, and
second, if the improper conduct warrants reversal. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev.
1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). Harmless error does not warrant
reversal, and if the defendant fails to object below, we review only for plain
error. Id. at 1188, 1190, 196 P.3d at 476-77. Even if the errors individually
do not warrant reversal, the cumulative effect of the errors may warrant
reversal if they collectively violated the defendant’s right to a fair trial. See
id. at 1195, 196 P.3d at 481. “When evaluating a claim of cumulative error,
we consider the following factors: (1) whether the issue of guilt is close,
(2) the quantity and character of the error, and (3) the gravity of the crime
charged.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).

We have carefully reviewed the record and agree there were

multiple instances of misconduct.? First, the prosecutor invited the jurors

TBecause Turner does not argue that the errors individually warrant
reversal, we do not consider them individually for harmless or plain error.
We note, however, that Turner failed to object to several of these errors
below. See Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008)

(explaining the standard of review).

8We address only the statements that we conclude constituted
misconduct. As to the remaining allegations of misconduct, we have
reviewed the record and conclude the prosecutors’ arguments were not
improper in light of the evidence adduced at trial and Turner’s admissions.
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to feel “good” about convicting defendants who shoot police officers.

Although Turner did not object to the prosecutor’s argument, we agree it
was improper, as these comments “appealed to juror sympathies by
diverting their attention from evidence relevant to the elements necessary
to sustain a conviction.” See, e.g., Pantano v. State, 122 Nev. 782, 793, 138
P.3d 477, 484 (2006) (concluding that it was misconduct for the prosecutor
to argue for the jury to find the defendant guilty in order to make the
parents of the victim feel better, as making the parents feel better was not
an element of the crimes charged). Furthermore, the prosecutor also
improperly invited the jury to consider issues not in evidence by arguing the
State could have charged Turner with additional crimes and implying the
prosecutor believed Turner was guilty of additional, uncharged crimes. See
id. (holding that it is “always improper” for the prosecutor to give a personal
opinion regarding the defendant’s guilt); see also Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1192,
196 P.3d at 478 (recognizing a prosecutor must “not inject his personal
opinion or beliefs” into the trial). Next, the prosecutor disparaged defense
counsel and the defense by arguing that there was no evidence of a third
intruder and that Turner’s defense that a third person committed the
crimes simply “came into [defense counsel’s] head,” where eyewitness
Grimaldi testified that he observed a possible third intruder. See, e.g.,
Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879, 898, 102 P.3d 71, 84 (2004) (explaining that
“[d]lisparaging remarks directed toward defense counsel have absolutely no
place in a courtroom, and clearly constitute misconduct,” and that
disparaging legitimate defense tactics is also misconduct (internal
quotation marks omitted)). Finally, the prosecutor’s argument that Turner
knew Clarkson and Grimaldi were unarmed and therefore vulnerable

amounts to prosecutorial misconduct because that argument was not
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supported by evidence.® See Williams v. State, 103 Nev. 106, 110, 734 P.2d
700, 703 (1987) (“A prosecutor may not argue facts or inferences not
supported by the evidence.”).

Reviewing the above errors cumulatively, under these specific
facts, we conclude that the errors do not warrant reversal. Substantial
evidence implicated Turner. First, Turner admitted going to the residence
with Hudson to do a “lick,” i.e., to steal marijuana. He also admitted that
guns were in the car, including the SKS, which he recognized as his uncle’s
gun, and he accurately deseribed the SKS to detectives, although he denied
using the firearm. Turner’s dogs and cellular phone were found in the car
located at the crime scene. The victims’ detailed testimonies regarding the
gunfire showed that two weapons were fired simultaneously. Significantly,
despite the locations where both firearms were discovered, we note that the
SKS had a trigger pull of approximately five pounds, and testimony adduced
at trial sufficiently established that one person could not have fired both the
automatic weapon and the rifle simultaneously. Evidence linked Hudson
to the Mossberg,10 supporting that Turner had fired the SKS. When officers

found Turner nearby, he had shrapnel in his leg and stippling wounds.

We also note the prosecutor’s argument that the “only result” that
can come from “shooting at two human beings” “is death” was inarticulate
to the extent it suggested that shooting a gun could have no outcome other
than murder.

10Hudson’s fingerprints were on the Mossberg, Hudson’s DNA was on
a bloodied beanie found at the scene, and a victim testified that the person
cocking the Mossberg was wearing a hat.

UWhile we acknowledge that the improperly admitted evidence was
used to establish the distance at which stippling may occur, other properly
admitted evidence nevertheless established the link between a gunshot and
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Finally, in Turner’s statement to the police, he denied working with a third
person, and his own statements placed him on or near the patio when the
shooting broke out.

This evidence collectively supports that Turner intentionally
went to the crime scene with the SKS to commit a violent crime and that he
shot the SKS before dropping the gun and fleeing the scene. Accordingly,
although there were several instances of flagrant prosecutorial misconduct,
and although the charges here are grave, we conclude reversal is not
warranted.12 See Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1195, 196 P.3d at 480 (“This
error . . . did not infect the trial with unfairness so as to affect the verdict
and deny [appellant] his constitutional right to a fair trial.”).

CONCLUSION

Turner waived his Bruton argument below, and we therefore
decline to address that argument on appeal. We agree the district court
improperly admitted Anya Lester’s expert testimony regarding skin
stippling, but we conclude that error was ultimately harmless. Similarly,

we agree that the prosecutor advanced several improper arguments during

skin stippling, and the jury could infer from that evidence that the stippling
occurred because Turner was in close proximity to a gun when it fired.

12For the same reasons, we reject Turner’'s argument that the
cumulative effect of all errors at trial warrants reversal. While we are
deeply troubled by those errors, most notably the admission of Lester’s
testimony regarding skin stippling, and while the charges here are serious,
we conclude cumulative error does not warrant reversal in light of the
evidence against Turner, See Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1195, 196 P.3d at 481.
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closing, but we conclude those statements do not rise to cumulative error

warranting reversal under the particular facts of this case. Accordilngly, we

\LM_) o

affirm the verdict.

Silver
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